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The Explosion of Administration

“Psychologists have done a number of studies proving that most people will 
ignore obvious facts and conclusions in order to remain steadfast with the group.” 

“Friedrich Hayek made the point on numerous occasions that the more a person 
has been educated, the greater the likelihood he is an idiot.” 

From Hormegeddon by Bill Bonner
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I almost don’t know where to begin the telling of this long tale. My fear is that it is all so familiar, you will stop 
reading because “it is happening everywhere.” It is also so long a tale that can only be told through minute detail – that 
you will be put off if I try to tell it all.

More than anything else, this is all funny – sometimes outrageously funny. Of course it was not funny at the time, but 
afterwards I always saw the humor. They were arrogant, contemptuous of me. They knew they held all the cards: deep 
down they knew I was not a threat. I buzzed and buzzed and buzzed around, and when they finally got annoyed, they’d 
swat me – and keep on doing exactly what they had been doing before.

I have been an English Instructor at a college in Michigan for two decades. What I am about to tell you may seem 
obvious once you see it – but no one saw it. And after I saw it and screamed, no one believed me. In part, they were 
absolutely sure I must be exaggerating: it could not be so blatant. No one could be so obvious.

The (Jr.) College was a good little school when I arrived in the Fall of 1971. There were roughly 2,000 students and a 
little over 90 full time Faculty. The first year for which I have accurate records – 1974 – there were 95 full time faculty, 18 
administrators, 35 support staff, 31 custodial. 

ONE: 1974 pocket handout (2 pages)

(Custodial would remain at 31 until, like all good things, the work was “farmed out” – think guns for hire in Iraq. The 
hiring practices of the grounds-keeping firm were atrocious. Basically, keep them at a minimum wage, fire them before 
they become full time employees.)

What became an intense fifteen-year-long analysis of the finances of my college began in the fall of 1985. A new Vice-
President had just been hired and he was padding his dossier: it would look good to say that one of his first moves was to 
involve absolutely every member of the faculty in a “Master Plan” charting the future of the college. If I had to serve on a 
committee, I decided to volunteer for the “Resources and Priorities” Committee.

I was somewhat interested in the finances of the Jr. College I taught at because an odd fact popped into my 
consciousness a few years earlier. In 1971, when I was hired, there were 90 teachers, 2,000 students. A decade later, 1981, 
I sensed there were hardly any new faces on the faculty (I was almost the “last-hired-first-to-be-fired”) – and yet I knew 
we were teaching a great many more students – almost 3,000 students.

There is a partial explanation for the preceding. We actually didn’t need any more faculty because although the 
number of students was increasing, the number of classes were not increasing. In 1971, almost 2,000 students carried 
close to a full load of classes. In 1981, many of the 3,000 students attending the college were part-time students.

TWO: year-by-year classes (2 pages)

I still felt uneasy because, although I saw no new faces among the faculty, I kept seeing new faces on the staff as a 
whole – and all the new hires were “non-teachers”: administrators, secretaries, counsellors.

THREE: “apocryphal” story of hiring 11

I decided to join the “Resources and Priorities” committee because part of its charge was to study how money is 
allocated at the institution. We were an eager group of eight or so, and the administrators handed us about fifty pages to 
study. I was fascinated, mesmerized. Look at all these numbers. And they have numbers for last year, and numbers for this 
year. I can compare!

I did not understand what all these figures meant, and I knew that many pages were missing, but I knew I could at least 
approach the figures one logical way: compare 1982-3 to 1983-4 to 1984-5 – and this is what I did. I spent many hours of 
one three-day-long weekend (40 hours?) poring over the figures, seeing trends, coming to realizations.

On Monday morning I burst into the Vice-President’s office with a mass of conclusions: these are the trends I see, 
blah, blah, blah....

I can’t, now, remember what I saw, because almost immediately, he stopped me.

“These aren’t actual expenditures, Henry.”

“They aren’t?”

“No, they are proposed budgets. What we think we will spend.”
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I was crushed, shattered – also puzzled. “Where are the actual year by year expenditures of the college?”

“I don’t know,” he stonewalled, smiled.

I was massively puzzled. They don’t have the actual records? They loaded our committee with “proposed” figures, not 
real figures?

“Why didn’t you give us the real figures?” I asked.

“We don’t expect you to do a line by line analysis. We gave you a few documents so you would become familiar with 
the general process, but we expect the committee to look at priorities, not actual expenditures.”

I walked out of there baffled, displeased, depressed. We are just a bunch of dopes setting up “priorities.” We don’t get 
to see actual year by year expenditures.

I knew committees were useless, stupid, do nothing bodies. I had avoided sitting on a committees for over a dozen 
years. But this man forced us to sit on “Master Plan” committees – and then he hands us bogus figures – guestimates – 
guestimates I spent forty hours poring over.

In the midst of writing this article, I found a five-page handout I had written and distributed to the members of the 
“Resources and Priorities” committee. The handout summarizes, for the committee, the many hours I spent studying the 
not-real-figures that were handed to us.

FOUR: five page handout (5 pages)

To read it now is to laugh at the man back then. Listen to him rant and rave. He believes that what he says will be 
listened to. He is outraged that Administration is “gobbling up” one quarter of an eight million dollar budget. You fool. 
Within a few years administration will gobble up well over fifty per cent of a 15 million dollar budget: Administration, 8 
million, Instruction, 7 million. But I get ahead of myself.

A passing comment by a colleague unlocked the mysteries of the budget to me. The yearly Official Audits of our 
college were available in our library. The college was required to keep these yearly Audits and make them available to the 
public.

That moment – that scene between the colleague and me – is sealed in my mind’s eye. I can see the spot on our 
campus where it occurred. I can see me almost running to the library. Sure enough, there they were: the yearly audits for 
1981-2, 1982-3, 1983-4. None before 1981. “Where are they?” I asked the librarian. He sent them to the Business Office. 
They hadn’t gotten around to returning them to the library, he said.

I phoned the Business Office and told them I was coming by to pick up a copy of the yearly audits from 1971 to 1981. 
They said okay. As the xeroxed copies of the Audits were being handed to me, the head of the Business Office walked 
in and took them away from the man who was about to hand them to me. Again, I have what some call a “flashbulb” 
memory of the event: the man on his side of the desk, hand outstretched, the document in his hand; me, on the other side 
of the desk reaching out, but not quite grasping the proffered document. Out of the corner of my eye I see the head of 
Business Office striding forcefully towards us, heading for the middle of the desk. He snatched the document mid-air, 
saying “You can’t have those Henry.”

I was stunned. Over the weekend I described this scene to good friends of mine. They told me these records were 
public property. Any member of the public has a right to see these records. I should walk in and tell them if they don’t 
give me these records, I’ll call the cops.

On Monday morning I strode into the new Vice-President’s Office and told him I want the Official Audits of the 
College for the years 1971 to 1981 (1979-80 “disappeared.” I never was able to find them). He said okay. I said I’m going 
to the Business Office to get them right now. He said that’s alright. He never gave me a chance to threaten to call the cops.

I went home and indulged in an orgy of number crunching. I don’t own a calculator. I grew up adding rows and rows 
of figures, and I was always quick and accurate. I was, am, an arithmetic whizz.

FIVE: official audits, heavily marked up by me (4 pages)

Money was being spent on Administration, not on “Instruction.” “They” spent it on furniture for their offices, 
on Conference and Travel, on “Professional Services” and “Special Projects.” To this day I have never been given a 
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breakdown of what these two line items are – Professional Services and Special Projects – and in some years they are a lot 
of bucks. The trend was clear, and clearly documented by our committee.

Mine was a small, and momentary, triumph. I had single-handedly guided our committee so that we were about to 
arrive at certain “conclusions.” Soon we would come out with a strongly worded report that called for a careful analysis of 
expenditures in “areas other than Instruction,” with special emphasis on Administration.

While one of my colleagues was writing up our committee’s conclusions I once again went to see the VP to show him 
all my figures. I set the figures out. I showed how more and more of the pie was being consumed by administrative needs 
– personnel, supplies, etc... Over and over he kept saying to me that I had no understanding of Administration. I had no 
expertise with which to judge whether a $35,000 travel budget was necessary or not.

I could not tell them what they should or should not spend. If I found they were not spending enough on Instruction, I 
should ask for more money for Instruction – but I should not carp, and complain, and point a finger. I was being divisive, 
counter-productive.

I kept saying it was not that we needed more – Instruction was well provided for – but that others seemed to be 
spending so much money in what I perceived was not the right way. 

I left his office highly dissatisfied. I felt my colleagues needed to know how badly, how incorrectly, money was being 
spent at our institution. I penned a two page note which I distributed to all 100 or so full time faculty – a note I thought I’d 
lost until a helpful colleague gave it to me – full of her marginal comments, which of course were too little and too late. 
She found the note while cleaning out her office and said something (see scribbled note at top) about how my struggle 
had “a long history.” This is a colleague who never, not even once, let me know she supported my struggle. Her notes 
and under-linings were never shown to me. She was silent while I desperately needed to know someone was listening, 
someone was supportive.

SIX: note

This was the first of what was to become a series of notes from me to them. And like many subsequent notes, this one 
got me into trouble.

The Vice President wrote me a short note. 

SEVEN: the Vice President’s note (3 pages)

This note, like all subsequent notes from them to me, implies that “sufficient explanation by them” would make 
their point clear. They always think they can explain it. They never accept the fact that I can listen and not accept their 
explanation. Once they explain enough, they assume I must see that they are right.

Again, as I write this article, I am embroiled in this ever-ongoing controversy. I have fired off a series of notes about 
the 1990-91 “Proposed Budget” – showing, yet again, the growth in Administrative travel, use of supplies.

EIGHT: 1991 note

Since I have received no support from the Faculty, The Faculty Council, Deans, or Presidents, my notes now go to 
members of the Board of Trustees of the College.

Once again the powers-that-be accuse me of being divisive (“us” and “them”), and once again they try to explain to 
me that I do not understand how such monies are spent – and perhaps they do need all this travel money, and perhaps.... It 
is I who do not understand....

What is most galling to me about such explanations is that they create committees to study these issues – and when 
a member of the committee tries to address the issue they say he lacks competence and the figures he is basing his 
conclusions on are incomplete figures, figures he can’t possibly fully understand.

Then stop putting me on committees!

The Vice President was right about one thing: my note to the full faculty did not “produce the positive results” I 
desired. It produced no results. Perhaps three people complimented me on the note. A few thought I was too radical. Most 
ignored me and my note.

For the following three years I continued my research, I continued to document the flow of money to administration, 
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and the piddling sums that were being spent on education. I can give you specific numbers, but numbers are numbing. 
Basically, the earliest figures show that two million dollars were being spent on education and one million dollars 
on administration. Fifteen years later five million dollars were being spent on education and five million dollars on 
administration.

NINE: budget, education and administration

What did they spend money on? Well, there is the obvious. They traveled everywhere, and they traveled in style.

TEN: travel budgets

Several of them spent several thousand dollars a year traveling to conferences. I heard of one case where a dozen of 
them traveled to Texas for a conference – and believe me, they traveled in style, they stayed at the best hotels. They had 
credit cards that they used to pay for drinks. I know that to be true because once I was at a conference with one of them. In 
the evening he took me out for drinks and he paid the bill with his college-issued credit card.

At one point I was furious at the size of the then President’s budget. I believe it was $50,000. This was the one and 
only time I received an explanation that satisfied me. They were trying to get rid of him. That year they funded his travel 
hither and yon to interview for yet another job. Finally, in that $50,000 travel budget year, he got a job elsewhere.

In some years the faculty had as little as $100 per person to travel to conferences. As you can imagine, we didn’t go 
very far. In most years, most of us never even attended one conference, and the few times we did go anywhere, we went 
on the cheap, topped up our meagre travel allowance by paying for part of the trip out of our money.

ELEVEN: Instruction travel budget – see last four paragraphs

Most of their increased spending though, was hidden inside the budget. Who knows how it was spent. As you saw, the 
yearly S & S audits made comparisons easy. Each line item gives you what was spent this year and what was spent last 
year. So, for instance, in 1988, $16,489 was spent on Professional Services, and the following year, 1989, $59,469 was 
spent on Professional Services.

TWELVE: 1988-89 budget (5 pages)

That’s clear – and not clear. It is clear that the amount spent quadrupled – but what the heck are “Professional 
Services”? I asked, but no one would ever explain to me exactly what services are professional services. What we do 
know is that the amount spent on “Professional Services” increased enormously, quadrupled to be precise. Other line 
items are easier to understand, “Conferences and Travel,” “Insurance,” “Office Supplies,” “Advertising and Publicity.” 

These audits were my rock and salvation. The law required that these audits be compiled every year, and that these 
audits be made public. Every year I waited breathlessly for the new audits, and every year I was not disappointed: the 
figures were shocking, and they were there in black and white. I didn’t make these figures up. They produced the figures 
that made their behavior clear to any one who took the time to look. But no one looked, and when I brought the figures 
to the attention of the faculty as a whole, no one cared. Of the roughly one hundred members of the faculty, maybe three 
people thanked me for my efforts.

They, the administration, also helped me track exact “Staff Figures” which they published in a little pocket handout 
they distributed every year.

Of course, after a few years, they wised up: they stopped publishing these figures in the handy-dandy, illustrated, 
pocket handout. This was distributed to the public at large. It was really pretty. Oh, they continued handing out this 
expensive little fold out, but it did not contain specific numbers: Faculty? Administrators? Support Staff?

For a few years in a row I fired off notes to the faculty as a whole. “Look at what they are doing,” I screamed. No one 
paid attention. The faculty was scared and silent. They thought I was a madman. The administration soon learned to leave 
me alone. They realized I was ineffectual and the best approach to me was to simply ignore me.

Once again, I can throw figures and details at you. How their budget for travel increased from $18,000 to around 
$125,000, while during the same period of time the faculty’s travel budget increased from $18,000 to $20,000. How the 
budget for advertising increased from zero dollars to almost a quarter of a million dollars – and they paid that quarter of a 
million to advertise at a time when they told us that there was absolutely no room for any more students: we simply didn‘t 
have classroom space.
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THIRTEEN: radio column on travel, advertising and classroom space

Year after year they renovated their offices, hired more secretaries, spent more money on duplicating. They grew and 
grew, and spent more and more – all the while telling us that no more money was available for education. Our salaries, in 
some years, were frozen. Our class sizes continued to increase. Our travel budget was cut. Our supplies were cut.

A note I wrote around 1995 reveals how our supplies for duplicating were cut drastically – duplicating is as essential 
for an English department as lab material is for a science department – and it also reveals much else about administration 
and education.

FOURTEEN: we economise, they proliferate (3 pages)

The story is as old as the hills. We all know that every business soon becomes top heavy with administration while the 
workers receive an increasingly smaller cut of the pie.

Playing with the figures

Academic years run from September to September. Every year S & S publish two rows of figures: this year’s 
expenditures and last year’s expenditures. In December of 1987 the S & S audit had expenditures for 1986-7 and 
expenditures for 1985-6. The line item that really threw me was the huge figure of a half a million dollars ($500,360) for 
Salaries for Educational Administration. I didn’t remember such a large amount and when I looked at my old figures – that 
I had culled from the December 1986 audit – I found one for the very same year, 1985-6 of under $100,000. How could 
they say in one audit that in 1985-6 they spent $100,000 and in the next year’s audit the figure for that very same year 
becomes a half a million. I looked closely and saw that a whole set of figures had been revised.

FIFTEEN: S & S audits – December 1987 and December 1986 (2 pages)

What happened? How could they change their minds? Either we spent $100,000 or we spent $500,000. What was the 
true figure, the true expenditure? As you can imagine, I ran around and asked questions which no one wanted to answer. 
After much sleuthing I uncovered the answer. The State of Michigan was dissatisfied with the auditing practices of our 
college. They said that too many Administrative costs were being lumped under Instructional costs. They demanded we 
change our auditing practices to reflect the true expenditures.

SIXTEEN: note to faculty

Of course I wrote another ineffectual note that I distributed to the faculty as a whole. Of course the note was 
universally ignored. My little triumph was no triumph at all. They continued to do whatever they wanted to do. I 
continued to waste my time studying figures.

The next big breakthrough occurred when I noticed a new and very disturbing trend.

Halfway through the Academic year 1986-7 we acquired a new President, a high flier from downstate. How he became 
our President is another very interesting story which I can tell you if you want, but the details are sketchy. I will never-
ever know the whole truth, but there he was, and he was a big spender.

At first, this seemed good. Whatever the faculty wanted, it got. This seemed wonderful. Ask and you shall receive. I 
was appointed the head of an Internationalizing the Curriculum committee, and funds flowed my way. At one point the 
new President tried to bribe me. He and his cronies were taking an all-expenses-paid trip to Japan. I complained that the 
trip was unnecessary and ridiculously costly. He offered to take me along to Japan. I declined. Naturally, everybody was 
happy that this big spender was now our President. The faculty was happy, the administrators were happy, the secretaries 
were happy. These were the good times. 

But I was a little suspicious of all this largesse and it all came to a head when we set out to buy yet another campus 
for our college. We already had three separate campuses in our small town. There was the huge and underdeveloped main 
campus: tons of acreage was available there to build on – and this was prime real estate property. And we had two other 
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campuses. Since part of our college is a maritime academy, we had a small “technical” campus on the water, about a mile 
away from the main campus. It housed the Maritime Academy and the Automotive Technology School. 

We also had a flight school, so we had a third and very small facility at the local airport. (Small aside: we had a police 
academy, a nursing school, a maritime academy and a flight school. I claimed we were at the only school which, if it 
wanted to, could attack Chicago by land, by sea and by air)

Our master plan (the one that began the whole process of my involvement in all this) clearly called for consolidation: 
Automotive and Maritime Academy classes were to be moved to the main campus, but all that was in the future and 
meanwhile this President wanted to exacerbate the current split-campus situation by creating a fourth campus.

A beautiful piece of property, with some lovely buildings overlooking a lake, was up for sale. A local company was 
swallowed by a large corporation, and that corporation wanted to sell the local offices. For a variety of reasons (tax 
reasons of course), the corporation would benefit greatly if they could sell their property to an educational institution.

The property was beautiful, the price was ridiculously cheap (to us), but did we need yet a fourth campus when the 
avowed intent of our institution was to consolidate? This campus was even further away from the main campus than the 
Maritime Academy. If we bought this, campus students would end up driving to classes miles away. The local newspaper 
published a long piece I wrote wherein I pointed out the stupidity of having classes at four different locations. “Education” 
would resemble car rallies as students rushed to their cars and tried to make it on time to their classes at a campus miles 
away.

SEVENTEEN: the local newspaper column (2 pages)

This “superfluous” campus soon became a sort-of-school of its own. It housed many colleges: extension programs to 
grant our town’s students a four year degree, without ever leaving the town .

A true college education requires that you leave your home town. I speak from experience. I went to Columbia College 
– a twenty minute morning walk from my father’s apartment. Key words? My father’s apartment. My mind ingested 
information, good information, great information, but my body did not take me to a true college experience. I never made 
a single friend in my 600 student class, 60 of which came from my high school: Bronx High School of Science. I walked to 
school every morning with two high school classmates. They are the only people from that 600 person class I keep track 
of, via the internet.

I didn’t go to college. My classes might just as well have come over the web – that’s how much contact I had with my 
classmates. 

I will spare you the details of my ineffectual fight to stop our new President from purchasing a campus we clearly did 
not need. In brief, the administration manufactured figures to support their position – they lied.

They said that in ten years our enrollment would jump from nearly four thousand students to ten thousand students 
– a prediction that inevitably did not come true. They said that most community colleges in Michigan had more than 
one campus. I went to my office, sat down and phoned all twenty-nine Junior Colleges in Michigan, and found out that 
– unless you included in the concept of “multiple campuses” the fact that a few of them used classrooms at a local high 
school to teach one or two classes a year – our administration lied to us.

Much later, I found out that the President asked several department chairs if they approved of the purchase of a new 
campus. After the first four department chairs said no, he stopped asking and just went ahead and purchased the campus 
anyway.

The big break through in my fight against profligate spending occurred when I suddenly saw just how much money 
this new President was spending.

In the midst of my once-a-year orgy of number crunching I suddenly noticed the bottom line: the total spending – and 
it seemed to me that there had been a huge increase in the overall budget. I created a chart that showed the year by year 
increase in our budget – and I was flabbergasted. For about a dozen years, the increase per annum in our budget was 
around a half a million dollars each year (between 400,000 and 800,000). Suddenly, in 1986-87 (the first half year of the 
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new President), the yearly increase in the budget was over a million. The following year (1987-8), the budget increased by 
two million – and I knew that the budget increase in the year I was looking at (1988-9) was, once again, going to be in the 
2 million range.

Then I heard the rumors. Other people were whispering that this new President was going to spend us into bankruptcy. 
When he arrived, we had a budget surplus of over a million. Now we had a budget deficit of several million, and the 
budget deficit was growing at an alarming rate. I listened to the rumors, and I finally found an ally who was secretly 
feeding me figures and urging me to dig deeper. No matter what I found, she told me I hadn’t found all there was to find. I 
must continue and I must dig deeper: there was more to be found, she kept telling me.

She was my “deep throat.” For those of you who don’t know, during the administration of President Nixon, a 
newspaper reporter, Bob Woodward of the Washington Post, uncovered the Watergate Scandal that led to President 
Nixon’s resignation. Woodward met periodically with a shadowy figure (code-named Deep Throat) who kept feeding him 
information – telling him where to look, urging him to keep looking. (The identity of Deep Throat remained secret for 
almost 30 years. The man allowed his identity to be revealed a scant few months before he died of cancer). My “Deep 
Throat,” one of the secretaries of the President of my college, kept telling me where to look and what to look for – and of 
course she swore me to secrecy. She knew she would lose her job if her identity was ever revealed.

Whenever I got discouraged she fed me another bit of murky information that led me down yet another avenue. She 
never told me flat out what to look for – she kept giving me hints, and she kept telling me I had not yet found all there was 
to find

EIGHTEEN: the joke is on us (2 pages)

I compiled my figures and guess what: I sent a three page screed to the 100 full time members of faculty. 

NINETEEN: three pages followed by fourth “apology” page (4 pages)

Once again, the faculty said nothing to me, but the administration went ballistic. I was hauled in to the new Vice 
President’s office (yes, there was yet another new Vice President, a hand-picked buddy of the new President), and he 
yelled at me for almost an hour. I say almost an hour because the ten minutes of the hour he was not there to yell, he was 
replaced by the new President who took his place and yelled at me.

Their basic point? My figures were wrong. I made them up. I was lying and using bogus figures. I kept pointing out 
that these were official figures taken from official college audits – figures available to anyone. That didn’t stop them. They 
accused me of lying and they were furious that I didn’t come to them with the figures but distributed the figures to the full 
faculty. They were furious, but unrepentant. I was a liar and they were not about to change anything.

I knew I could not stop and I knew that if I wanted to save my college I had to go over their heads. Going over 
their heads meant one of two things: showing my figures to the public at large that paid for our institution (I mailed 
my findings, in the form of a column, to the local newspaper and downstate newspapers. They refused to publish), or 
contacting the Board of Trustees – a group elected to oversee the running of our college.

TWENTY: four page column sent to local newspapers (4 pages)

For a long time I had been feeding my figures to a former faculty member who had been elected to the board of 
trustees, but he was a timid man who refused to take action. He accepted my figures and did nothing. So I telephoned the 
Chairperson of the board of trustees. I told him I had to come see him privately, in his home. I had a set of figures I had to 
show him. He was reluctant but he finally agreed to see me. I saw him for perhaps less than half an hour, but that is really 
all the time I needed to set out my figures. There was little he could do then. He had to go away and check the figures I 
showed him. He was non-committal, said very little. He did not even thank me. He accepted it all silently, grudgingly.

As it happened all this occurred barely a month before the academic year ended, and that summer I went abroad to 
Europe. When I returned we had a new President. In my opinion the wrong President (the Vice-President who yelled at 
me for an hour, the hand-picked buddy of the departing President) was chosen to be the new President, but at least the 
big-spender was gone – and no one knew why the man suddenly resigned and was replaced. No one was ever given an 
explanation for the changing of the guard.

Many years later I finally managed to ask the Chairman of the board of trustees if my figures were instrumental in 
toppling the old President and why I wasn’t given credit. The chairman was non-committal, refused to give me sole credit 
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for the change, but he did say it would not have looked good to say that a faculty person went behind the President’s back, 
contacted a member of the Board of Trustees and toppled the sitting President.

So now we have a new president, and the whole cycle begins again.

The new President saw we were indeed spending ourselves into bankruptcy and instituted cost cutting measures. In 
December of his first year as president I went to see him to discuss these. The minute I got into his office he closed the 
door and in a roundabout way he apologized. He told me the situation he found was even worse than I had set forth last 
year. He could not have imagined his old boss was spending us into bankruptcy. Once he took over, he saw I had been 
right and it was even worse than what I had found. 

My thoughts? Why are you apologizing to me behind closed doors? Why don’t you tell everyone I was right? But that 
is, finally, a petty detail. I wanted credit for my work – but that was not what was most important. At least the internal 
bleeding was stopped and my institution was saved from bankruptcy. I asked him to please show me what he was doing.

He was most kind and cooperative. He showed me where he was making cuts in spending – in faculty salaries and 
travel, in duplicating and in many other departments. This looked good and proper, but when I asked to see what was 
happening in administration, what I thought I saw disturbed me. 

All this was happening too quickly for me to be sure. He’d show me a page with rows and rows of figures – very 
similar to the ones in the yearly audits – but the figures went by too quickly for me to be sure of what I was seeing. 
I thought I saw that no cuts were being made in administration. If anything, I thought I saw slight increases in 
administrative spending. 

I left his office disturbed. I accepted his apology, but I needed more time to study the figures. A few days later I asked 
for a second meeting so I could study the figures better. He agreed to another meeting but he asked that others be present 
at that meeting.

I won’t go into great detail about this twenty minutes or so meeting. Suffice it to say that he switched figures on me. 
When I asked to see the pages he showed me last time he said he couldn’t remember what pages he had shown me. When 
I asked to see some specific figures that I did remember, he showed me a page with totally different figures. Where I 
remembered half a million, he showed me a line item that showed less than 100,000. I was frustrated and powerless. The 
book of figures was in his hand – and he never allowed me to hold the book. He turned to whatever figures he wanted to 
turn to.

I left his office furious. I don’t ever remember being so angry in my life. The English department lounge – a lounge we 
all congregate in – had a whole bunch of sheets tacked on to a bulletin board – sheets tacked up by me detailing the waste 
in administration. I stormed into that lounge, tore down every sheet I had put up. I screamed, raved and ranted, and then 
I did something conscientious me had never-ever done before. I got into my car, drove downstate, cut my classes for the 
rest of the week. I phoned in sick because I was sick. I thought I would never again waste my time fighting what I sensed 
was a useless fight that drove me round the bend bonkers.

Of course I later calmed down and of course I continued my fight, a fight that almost cost me my job. 

Shortly after my meeting with the new President I wrote a three page note calling the new President a liar who treated 
full time faculty like children. 

TWENTY ONE: three page note distributed to 25 friends (3 pages)

I did not distribute this note to the “whole faculty” but to twenty five or so of my friends on the faculty. The 
administration got wind of my note (of course I wanted them to) and demanded a copy. I said this was private note to my 
friends – not something for the public at large. They pressured my supposed friends until one of them handed my note 
over to them. As you can imagine, the President went ballistic.

Unbeknownst to me, this note appeared the weekend before our new President was to be given his “annual 
assessment” by the Board of Trustees. He saw my note as an attempt to undermine him, perhaps to get him fired.

He turned to his allies, his minions, who were serving on the Faculty Council. Over the weekend he phoned them, 
demanded they call me on the carpet. His supposed remit to them? Find out the truth of these accusations made against 
him. If I was right, he would resign; if I was wrong, I should be forced to resign.
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I was called to appear before the Faculty Council. I wasn’t scared. First of all, the Faculty Council is there to fight for 
the Faculty not to do the President’s bidding. Second, I knew I was right, my facts were right. Yes, I called him a liar – but 
not in public. This was a note written to my friends. He extracted the note from a supposed friend of mine, but this was 
private communication. In private I can say whatever I want to say.

Several of my friends were afraid for me. They told me not to attend this meeting. They said the President had no right 
to turn to the Faculty Council – a council created to protect the Faculty – to do his dirty work for him. If he wanted to fire 
me, he should try to fire me.

Since I insisted on going – I had done nothing wrong – they decided to come along with me to this meeting – and they 
saved my skin.

I had no idea how antagonistic the Faculty Council was going to be. They began to grill me in earnest. I saw that I was 
deep danger: most of them seemed very willing to do what the President bid them do. They were ready to see me fired.

But every time they asked me a question, I was not allowed to answer. Instead, my friends interceded and said that: 
the Council had no right to ask me these questions; if the President wanted to ask me this question, he should do so; 
the Faculty Council’s job was to protect me, help me, not do what the President bid them to do; they were the Faculty 
Council, not the President’s Council.

The meeting was not a short one. They kept throwing questions at me, undeterred by my six friends, my cabal of 
protectors. They wanted my hide – but they didn’t get it. I was saved, but barely. I sent every one of my friends a note 
of thanks – and flowers and chocolates. I knew how close I had come to being fired. If not for them, I would have had to 
answer questions – and I sensed my answers would not have satisfied these inquisitors.

I continued to fight for many more years – but never again with quite the same fervor – or hope. They continued 
to spend more and more money on administration and less and less money on education. They became increasingly 
sophisticated at hiding their machinations and I became more and more frustrated until I eventually stopped fighting.

TWENTY TWO: the first two years of the presidency

I wangled my way on to a committee they created to try to mollify me – the Budget Review Committee. At first the 
President wouldn’t let me serve on this committee, but somehow I got on it. 

The problem with the Budget Review Committee was that we received the budget only days before the budget was to 
be presented to, and passed by, the Board of Trustees. In other words, they did not give us anywhere near enough time to 
look at the rows upon rows of figures. Of course I was furious. Of course I tried to stop the Board of Trustees from passing 
the budget until our committee had more time to study the budget.

TWENTY THREE: the new president’s second year

I think it was the year I penned the above note (1990?) that I decided to attend the Board of Trustees meeting to ask 
them to postpone passing the proposed budget – to wait until the Budget Review Committee had more time to study the 
figures. Somehow the local newspaper got wind of my plan and they sent a reporter to the meeting. The atmosphere was 
electric.

The newspaper man sat next to me at an oblong table. Several faculty members came along to see what would happen. 
Before the meeting even started a member of the Board of Trustees who absolutely hated me turned upon me, belittled me, 
accused me of calling in the local press to cause trouble. I told him it was not I who had called in the press, and that I was 
only doing my job as a member of a committee entitled “The Budget Review Committee.” He, and several other members 
of the Board of Trustees were furious. 

I do not remember exactly what happened, but basically I promised not to make trouble this year – in exchange for a 
promise that the following year they would give the “Budget Review Committee” the proposed budget well in advance of 
the time the budget would be presented to the Board of Trustees. Unsurprisingly they did not keep their promise. 
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When we left this tempestuous meeting a young member of the Math department told me he was shocked by the way 
they treated me, belittled me, ganged up on me. I was so used to their behavior towards me that I almost didn’t see what 
he was talking about. They always ganged up on me. They always attacked me – and no, the reporter did not write a story 
for the local newspaper. There was nothing for him to say, to write about.

There are a few more incidents worth sharing and I will sketch them out for you below. 

Around the same time (1990) they fired the business manager and hired a new man who promptly changed all the 
accounting practices. Some people joked that his job description was “create new figures that Henry can’t analyze or 
compare to any other year” and he did just that. In his first year he changed all the line items so there was no way I could 
compare any expenditure that year to any expenditure the year before – and he then called me in, personally, to ask if I 
had any questions about the budget.

He knew I could not ask any questions. I had no points of comparison. He was smiling, smug, supremely happy. He 
kept saying that if I had any questions I should feel free to come and ask him questions. I was tired. I didn’t.

The next year he called me in again, all smiles and smugness. Did I have any questions this year? Again, the whole 
budget was so confusing (unlike the lovely line-by-line year-after-year similarity of the S & S audit) that I could not ask 
any intelligent questions. He had me befuddled, and he loved it. By then I was so tired of the fight that I hardly cared. No 
one backed me and I was approaching retirement. I refused to twist myself into knots when clearly I was the only person 
who cared.

In 1992-3 I spent the academic year abroad, as a Fulbright Exchange teacher in Southampton England. On my return 
I attended the annual pre-teaching meeting where we are talked at by various motivational speakers – among them the 
President of our College. I am hard of hearing. At all such boring meetings I have learned to bring along a book, turn off 
my hearing aids, and enjoy my day by reading. As the President spoke people kept looking at me and finally people began 
poking me. They told me he was talking about me. I turned on my hearing aids.

He was making a proposal. He knew I loved to play tennis and he had recently taken up tennis. He proposed a tennis 
match between us – a match that could be viewed by the faculty as a whole. Every member of the faculty knew we hated 
each other. Why was he doing this? What was the catch? The catch was that only people who contributed to the annual 
Charity Fund-raiser could come to view the tennis match. That year we raised more money than any year before or since.

But he went on talking and he revealed more, too much more. He went on to explain that he was having nightmares 
about this tennis match. In one nightmare he suffered a heart attack and I was bending over him ready to administer mouth 
to mouth resuscitation. He looked up weakly and said “I’d rather you didn’t Henry.” The man hated me so much he’d 
rather die than have me touch him. I sat there aghast. Don’t you know what you are revealing? Aren’t you embarrassed? 
Clearly he was not.

But he was a bit embarrassed. The months dragged on and he would not set a definite date for the match. Everybody 
kept asking me: when is the match, Henry? We want to come and watch the match. Finally, late in the fall, with little 
fanfare, he set a date on what turned out to be a dull, gray, windy day – and he told almost no-one. Maybe a half dozen 
people got wind of it and showed up. I am a good tennis player. I slaughtered him, not that it gave me any pleasure.

We had one more bitter encounter. I decided to take a year long sabbatical split into two years. My college allowed me 
to do that. I was allowed to take a half year off at half pay and the following year I could take the second half of the year 
off at half pay. The first half year was okay, but when I applied for the second half of my sabbatical, he denied my request. 
As his note said, the college would be better off with my full time services: request for second half of sabbatical denied.

He did not know then, and I did not know until many years later, that he did me a life-long favor – and I am not 
exaggerating: life long. Exactly five years later I retired – and part of the reason I retired exactly five years later is that 
at Michigan colleges, retirement pay is computed as an average of the last five years of your pay. Because he denied the 
second half of my sabbatical, a lump sum of $13,000 was added to my pay that academic year. The rule is that you may 
take a six month sabbatical at full pay or a full year’s sabbatical at half pay. During the six months of the first half of my 
sabbatical I had received only half of my pay – so they owed me, in one lump sum, one quarter of my full time pay – 
$13,000. I paid off $4,000 worth of debt, banked a lump sum of $9,000 – and suddenly, the computation for my retirement 
pay went way up, it went up by something like $1,000 a year every year for the rest of my life!
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The man did me a huge favor – and added to that he gave me an image I will never-ever forget. During the meeting 
we had wherein he denied the second half of my sabbatical he sat across the table from me. He leaned forward and the 
hatred that poured out of his eyes when he denied my sabbatical was something I had seen only once before in my life 
(predictably enough from the eyes of the previous President – the big spender). I hadn’t known anyone could hate that 
much. I was startled, not scared. In fact, I was oddly flattered. My God, I didn’t know I had been that effective. I couldn’t 
hate that much, and I couldn’t imagine staring at someone with that kind of intensity.

To this day he doesn’t know he did me a favor – and I don’t care enough about him to dig him up and needle him. He 
and I are no longer involved with that institution. I’ve moved on. Has he?

Is the situation any better now? Of course not. Several years ago I received an email from a member of the science 
department who admired my fight – though she herself never backed me. She said the administration is still at it and if 
I was still interested she could supply me with figures. She wanted me to resume my fight. Although I refused then, in a 
small sense writing this book is resuming the fight. 

Perhaps this next, and final story, will illustrate clearly that even when people know what is happening, nothing is 
done. 

Around 1990, many years into my fight with the administration, someone told me I must travel downstate and look at 
the figures of such and such college downstate where exactly the same thing was happening. They told me that the scandal 
down there was well known, well documented, and nothing was being done. As in the case of my college, the documents 
published by the college itself revealed their own scandalous behavior. 

My faulty memory recalls large and very general numbers. They began with around 1,200 faculty and around 
700 “others.” Within less than a decade the numbers flip-flopped: now they employed around 800 faculty and 1,200 
“others.” In the early years, in their annually published guide to their college, they had a pie chart that vividly showed the 
distribution of Faculty and “others.” After six or so years they stopped printing the pie chart – it was too embarrassing to 
see who was getting the biggest slice of the pie. 

So I do not expect anything to be done as a result of this book – but I do hope people will enjoy the read.
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Cost to Administer

Created by Diane Emling
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Given the focus on NMC’s “Cost to Educate” down to the Discipline and Department levels, it seems that we 
should be as closely scrutinizing our “Cost to Administer”. There are, of course, several different ways that this could be 
calculated. I am less interested in department-level costs than I am the aggregate pattern. Following are a few ways to 
think about “Cost to Administer” based on data sources that are especially rigorous and objective.

My first method seems above reproach, because it uses the “official” report that each college is required to provide 
to the state Department of Education using some standard definitions of activities (IPEDS). I have taken those that the 
Department of Education lists as our peers. I have taken the total cost reported for each of them, and subtracted what each 
has reported for the cost category of “instruction”. So, what is left is the non-instructional cost. Here are the results.*

GROUP 2 Instruction Total

Admin Only  
(Total minus 
Instruction)

JACKSON 19712450 39087726 $19,375,276

KELLOGG 18957875 36568516 $17,610,641

LAKE MICHIGAN 10695851 25954385 $15,258,534

MONROE 12450740 26022555 $13,571,815

MUSKEGON 15958907 31233258 $15,274,351

NORTHWESTERN 17078840 38793956 $21,715,116

ST. CLAIR 12476539 27400681 $14,924,142

You will see that there are three who manage to spend more on instruction than we do; and we are by far the highest in 
non-instructional spending.

A second way to think about “Cost to Administer” is to use NMC Audit Report data. It would be hard to find more 
objective information than from audit reports. NMC audits report total operating expense and total instructional expense. 
As above, subtracting instruction from the total yields administrative/overhead expense. The total administrative expense, 
divided by credit hours, gives the administrative cost per credit hour.

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014

Total Operating 
Expense 47,664,128 53,763,000 55,477,898 54,669,628 57,755,000

Total Instructional 
Expense 15,537,292 16,823,339 16,995,357 17,149,555 18,417,757

Total Administrative 
Expense 32,126,836 36,939,661 38,482,541 37,520,073 39,337,243

Credit Hours  
(Fall & Spring) 117,820 109,866 101,422 97,672 92,761

Administrative Expense 
Per Credit hour $272.68 $336.22 $379.43 $384.14 $424.07

A third way to think about “Cost to Administer” is to look at the annual head count data provided by NMC’s Human 
Resources Department. The following graph shows the changing composition of NMC employees. Clearly, if NMC 
exceeds its preferred target for the percent of the budget to be spent on personnel, it is not faculty positions creating the 
concern.
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Another way to visually depict this trend is :

Changes in NMC Staffing Patterns
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Finally, one might look at aggregate budget data, to see the various shares of revenue being devoted to education, 
compared to everything else. Looking at the 2013-14 year, This is what I see:

Revenue Sources (Especially Tuition)

Student tuition is the only revenue source that NMC has control over. As overhead and administrative expenses go up, 
tuition must go up, “course efficiency” must be maximized, and salaries and benefits must be reduced. When tuition goes 
up, and course efficiency leads to the elimination of courses students want or need, or students are informed that courses 
they are already enrolled in are canceled (at a time when no courses are left available), we lose enrolled credit hours, and 
create another angry and frustrated student. Every frustrated student results in a multiplier of ill will in the community, as 
each student’s network hears the story. Enrollment declines further. We can’t pass a millage.

It needs to be remembered that 100% of NMC’s revenue comes from that which happens between faculty and 
students. We would not qualify for state aid, or be allowed to collect local property taxes if we were not a public 
educational institution. Question: How much of that revenue goes to instructional expenses?

“Cost to Educate” – Educational Expenses
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Please note that the amount spent on instruction is significantly smaller than the amount tuition alone among the 
sources of revenue. We are raising student tuition every year in order to allow administrative expenses to rise further.

The reason for NMC’s “structural” budget problem is clear: revenue sources other than tuition are flat, while the major 
increase in Administrative, Managerial and Professional staff have escalated NMC’s personnel expenses. These positions 
are not inexpensive in their individual and cumulative budget impact. Due to the cost of this increase, NMC solves the 
projected deficit: Tuition goes us, class schedules are compressed, and class “maximums” are ignored in order to offer 
fewer sections and reduce adjunct expenses..

It has been said that the target for the share of NMC’s budget directed to personnel should not exceed 68%. It currently 
stands at about 70%. Thus we have taken a pay cut of 20% of our institutional health insurance budget, and another in 
the deferral of step and cost of living increases for 6 months, and possibly longer, All employees pay the price for this 
significant increase in the cost of administration. 

In closing, I would like to reiterate that the micromanagement of faculty and instructional units is quite ironic, given 
where the obvious problems reside. As I said at the beginning, I am not making judgments about the staffing or expenses 
of any individual administrative unit (unlike the monitoring of “cost to educate”). Obviously, there is always a case to 
be made for each specific position, taken in isolation. In aggregate, however, even our current level of non-instructional 
employees is unsustainable, and there is no sign that it will not continue to grow.

									         Diane Emling

									         March 7, 2015
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ONE – 1974 pocket handout (1 of 2)
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ONE – 1974 pocket handout (2 of 2)

01 – Back to book
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TWO – year-by-year classes (1 of 2)
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TWO – year-by-year classes (2 of 2)

02 – Back to book
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THREE – “apocryphal” story of hiring 11

In the middle ‘70s, when a freeze in hiring was announced absolutely no new teachers would be 
hired because no more students were expected next year I heard they were thinking about hiring eleven 
administrators.

The story sounded so outrageous that when I told it, and I seldom did tell it, I made clear to my 
listeners that I did not really believe the number eleven, but that I did believe that when no more teachers 
were to be hired, some administrators were going to be hired.

Many years later a colleague corroborated my story. They actually did consider filling eleven 
administrative positions, but ended up filling only three. Consider eleven? Unbelievable. In a year when 
no more teachers could be hired because no more students would enrol, three more administrators were 
added to the budget. Unbelievable.

03 – Back to book
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FOUR – five page handout (1 of 5)
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FOUR – five page handout (2 of 5)
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FOUR – five page handout (3 of 5)
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FOUR – five page handout (4 of 5)
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FOUR – five page handout (5 of 5)

04 – Back to book



30

FIVE – official audits, heavily marked up by me (1 of 4)
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FIVE – official audits, heavily marked up by me (2 of 4)
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FIVE – official audits, heavily marked up by me (3 of 4)
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FIVE – official audits, heavily marked up by me (4 of 4)

05 – Back to book
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SIX – note

06 – Back to book
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	 SEVEN – the Vice President’s note (1 of 3)
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	 SEVEN – the Vice President’s note (2 of 3)
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SEVEN – the Vice President’s note (3 of 3)

Office of Vice President for Instructional Services

To: Henry Morgenstein	 Date: 11/26

Henry, it’s too bad (in my view) that you chose not to accept my offer to explain or interpret the 
budget figures you referred to in your memo to faculty. Through innuendo, you’ve implied that the budget 
process and product are amiss. I disagree. However, that is of little importance. What is important is that 
we have confidence in each other as professionals. As you well know, things are not always as they appear 
including budget figures.

There are ways to improve the lines of communication regarding issues such as the budget; in fact, the 
Governance council is working on such a procedure at this moment.

While I do not deny or discount your right to express your opinion in this or any other issue you 
choose, I urge you to do so in the best interest of the College. I’m not convinced that your note will 
produce the positive result you desire.

Hopefully, the procedure being developed by the Governance Council will.

07 – Back to book
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EIGHT – 1991 note

08 – Back to book
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NINE – budget, education and administration

09 – back to book
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TEN – travel budgets

10 – back to book
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ELEVEN – Instruction travel budget: see last four paragraphs

11 – Back to book
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TWELVE – 1988-89 budget (1 of 5)
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TWELVE – 1988-89 budget (2 of 5)
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TWELVE – 1988-89 budget (3 of 5)
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TWELVE – 1988-89 budget (4 of 5)
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TWELVE – 1988-89 budget (5 of 5)

 
12 – Back to book
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THIRTEEN – radio column on travel, advertising and classroom space

 
13 – Back to book
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FOURTEEN – we economise, they proliferate (1 of 3)
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FOURTEEN – we economise, they proliferate (2 of 3)
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FOURTEEN – we economise, they proliferate (3 of 3)

14 – Back to book
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FIFTEEN – S & S audits: December 1986, December 1987 (1 of 2)
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FIFTEEN – S & S audits: December 1986, December 1987 (2 of 2)

 
15 – Back to book



53

SIXTEEN – note to Faculty

16 – Back to book
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SEVENTEEN – the local newspaper column

With Another Campus, Let’s Call it ‘Car College’

A university. A college campus. Halls of Ivy. The quad. 

We all have images of great universities, great places of learning. I’ve been to a few of the most 
beautiful campuses in the world. They are unforgettable: Oxford, England; Harvard, Boston; Berea, 
Kentucky.

What is most memorable about such places is how one can walk through them, go from building to 
building, class to class. They are human in scale and their campuses are full of green grass and trees. 
These are beautiful places where a student can move from class to class at a leisurely pace. 

It is a pleasure to walk around such campuses. Part of one’s education at such a place is the walk 
around campus, the life on campus. Minds must meet, greet, pass and re-pass. People must become 
familiar to each other. Students and teachers get to know each other’s walk, gestures, clothing, habits. 
A person’s theories lie in his life style as much as, or more than, in what he says.

At our College, cars will pass and honk at each other. Now that we’ve bought the third campus, which is 
over three miles away from the main campus, ours will be a commuter college in the true sense of the word. 
Students won’t study between classes, they’ll drive between classes. We’ll get to know each other’s cars.

Will a student be able to enrol at our college without a car? Yes, but some classes will be out of reach 
– unless he wants to take BATA.

I cannot scream loudly enough. I am on the edge of hysteria. Is this the way to run a college? Is this 
an academic decision? Is this done with the student’s best interests in mind? The faculty’s best interests in 
mind?

I can see that this deal was made for the short-run benefits – a great saving in cost now. However, I 
cannot believe that in the long run we will save money. This will cost us, year after year after year. It will 
cost students; it will cost faculty in maintenance and in duplication of facilities.

Much of my education at Columbia College took place in the lunch-room. I kid you not.‘ I met my 
peers there. It was there we discussed teachers, theories, books. If I wanted to be in their company, I had 
better read the books they were reading.

Where will people at the third campus location eat lunch? Will we have two lunch-rooms? Will 
students who have classes primarily at the third site go out to eat lunch?

This was exactly the problem our students faced with the current two campus configuration: the tech 
center and the main campus. Students and teachers complained about the situation. For years the goal was 
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to bring the tech campus back into the college as a whole. Now we bought a third campus – one a full two 
miles farther away. I’m sure we’ll sell the current tech center for big bucks; it’s on the bay property. 

But the goal was to integrate the campus. Buying a third campus assures our split college will stay 
split.

And what a strange college campus we bought! Once again, it’s not something you can walk around 
in. It is an odd-shaped piece of property that, even once you are on it, you’ve got a half-mile to go to get 
to what will be the classroom buildings. Or, you need a car to get from the entrance to the campus to the 
buildings way far away on the other side. 

Am I screaming too late? Well no one asked me before, and no one asked most of the people for 
whom all this is being done: the teachers and the students.

What we have bought is a great big parking lot for cars. What we now have is two campuses for 
cars. Why don’t we just call this Car College; just register your car and we’ll know you’ve registered for 
classes.

Your first class is Composition 101. Your class is from 9 to 9:50 in the science building on the main 
campus. Please get there early or you’ll have to park on the other end of the campus. Your second class 
is Introduction to Business from 10:30 to 11:30, and it meets on the campus two. Please do not dawdle 
between classes. It will take you a full half hour to get to your car on the main campus, drive to the other 
campus, park your car and walk to class. At noon you have Math 1010 in the science building. At 2 to 3 
p.m., Humanities in the fine arts building. 

Good luck, and keep your car tuned. Don’t forget the antifreeze, and always allow plenty of time for 
parking on both campuses.

Is this a college education or a road rally?

17 – Back to book
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EIGHTEEN – the joke is on us (1 of 2)
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EIGHTEEN – the joke is on us (2 of 2)

18 – Back to book



58

NINETEEN – three pages followed by a fourth “apology” page (1 of 4)
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NINETEEN – three pages followed by a fourth “apology” page (2 of 4)



60

NINETEEN – three pages followed by a fourth “apology” page (3 of 4)
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NINETEEN – three pages followed by a fourth “apology” page (4 of 4)

19 – Back to book
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TWENTY – four page column sent to two local newspapers (1 of 4)
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TWENTY – four page column sent to two local newspapers (2 of 4)
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TWENTY – four page column sent to two local newspapers (3 of 4)
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TWENTY – four page column sent to two local newspapers (4 of 4)

20 – Back to book
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TWENTY ONE: three page note distributed to 25 friends (1 of 3)
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TWENTY ONE: three page note distributed to 25 friends (2 of 3)



68

TWENTY ONE: three page note distributed to 25 friends (3 of 3)

21 – Back to book
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TWENTY TWO: the first two years of the new presidency

22 – Back to book
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TWENTY THREE: the new president’s second year

23 – Back to book
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